THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-001551  
Lower Court Case No. 2008-CP-23-5739

---

Andrew P. Ballard.....Respondent,

v.

Tim Roberson, Rick Thoennes, Rick Thoennes, III,  
and Warpath Development, Inc., Defendants,

Of Whom Rick Thoennes, III, is the.....Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Adam C. Bach (S.C. Bar No. 74885)  
R. Hudson Smith (S.C. Bar No. 101369)  
Eller Tonnsen Bach, LLC  
1306 South Church Street  
Greenville, SC 29605  
(864) 236-5013

Attorneys for Appellant Rick Thoennes, III

**RECEIVED**

JAN 31 2018

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR WHEN IT FOUND THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF POST-DISCHARGE OPPRESSION ATTRIBUTABLE TO APPELLANT?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR WHEN IT HELD THAT ITS PREVIOUS FACTUAL FINDINGS OF POST-DISCHARGE OPPRESSION WERE BINDING UPON APPELLANT AS THE LAW OF THE CASE?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR WHEN IT RULED THAT THE JUDGMENT WAS NOT DISCHARGED IN BANKRUPTCY DUE TO ALLEGED POST-DISCHARGE OPPRESSION?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 30, 2008, this matter was commenced by a minority shareholder, Respondent Andrew P. Ballard (“Ballard”), who alleged numerous allegations against the other shareholders related to the ownership and control of Warpath Development, Inc. (the “Company”). An amended complaint was filed on August 25, 2009. (R. pp. 163-179). The defendants filed an amended answer and counterclaims on September 17, 2009. (R. pp. 180-196).

The case was initially tried by a jury on March 15, 2010. During the trial, all legal causes of action and counterclaims were dismissed, leaving only Ballard’s equitable claims to be determined. The jury was dismissed, and the trial proceeded by bench trial, which concluded on March 17, 2010. On May 4, 2010, the trial court issued an order finding Appellant Rick Thoennes, III, (“Thoennes”) and the other defendant shareholders liable for shareholder oppression, ordering them to buy out Ballard’s shares in the Company, and calling for a future hearing to determine the value of Ballard’s shares (the “2010 Order”). The 2010 Order was appealed by the defendants before the contemplated valuation hearing took place.

During the pendency of that appeal, Thoennes filed a voluntary petition for Chapter 7 bankruptcy relief on December 2, 2011 in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of

South Carolina (the "Bankruptcy Action"). (R. pp. 513-572). On March 26, 2012, Thoennes was granted a discharge under 11 U.S.C. § 727, and the Bankruptcy Action was closed on March 28, 2013. (R. pp. 17-21).

On August 29, 2012, the South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's order and remanded the case for further proceedings. (R. pp. 110-125). On August 6, 2013, the trial court held a hearing to determine the fair market value of Ballard's shares (the "Valuation Hearing"). (R. p. 22). On October 3, 2013, the trial court issued an order finding the fair market value of Ballard's shares to be \$3,589,297, and this order was appealed by the defendants (the "2013 Order"). *See id.*

During the pendency of the second appeal, the trial court issued a rule to show cause on March 27, 2014 against the defendants. On April 23, 2014, a hearing was held on its rule to show cause and, that same day, the trial court issued two orders, one appointing a receiver (the "Receiver Order") and a separate charging order (the "Charging Order"). (R. pp. 42-60).

On November 17, 2014, Ballard filed an adversary proceeding in the bankruptcy court against Thoennes seeking to determine whether his judgment against Thoennes was discharged in bankruptcy. (R. pp. 573-582). On September 3, 2015, the bankruptcy court found Ballard's judgment discharged except as to any claims that arose after the date of Thoennes's discharge. (R. pp. 89-90). On October 28, 2015, the Adversary Proceeding was dismissed without prejudice by consent. (R. pp. 92-94).

On July 15, 2015, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed as modified the trial court's 2013 Order and reduced the fair value of Ballard's shares in the Company to \$3,125,000. (R. pp. 95, 126-141). On September 21, 2016, Ballard filed a motion in the state court, seeking a determination of the portion of the judgment amount against Thoennes that is attributable to

alleged post-discharge oppressive conduct. (R. pp. 241-244). On January 27, 2017, the trial court heard arguments from counsel regarding Ballard's motion and subsequently issued an order on April 18, 2017 finding none of the judgment against Thoennes was discharged (the "Order"). (R. pp. 96-103). On April 28, 2017, Thoennes filed a motion to alter and/or amend the Order. (R. pp. 250-259). On July 14, 2017, the trial court denied Thoennes's motion without a hearing, and Thoennes served the instant notice of appeal that same day. (R. pp. 104-105, 590-593).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On May 4, 2010, the trial court entered an order finding that Thoennes and the other defendants had acted oppressively toward Ballard. (R. pp. 1-16). The 2010 Order ordered one remedy for Ballard - the purchase of Ballard's shares at their fair market value by the defendants. *Id.* at 13. To determine the value of those shares, the Circuit Court ordered an appraisal by a valuation expert and directed the parties to consult on a date to reconvene once the valuation expert finished his valuation of Ballard's shares. *Id.* at 14.

The Valuation Hearing ordered by the 2010 Order did not take place until August 6, 2013 due to intervening appeals. During the intervening delay of three years, Thoennes filed for Chapter 7 bankruptcy relief. (R. pp. 513-572). Thoennes filed the Bankruptcy Action, in part, because of Ballard's judgment against him. (R. pp. 588-589, ¶¶ 1-2). Thoennes identified Ballard as a creditor of his estate and identified the Ballard judgment as an unliquidated claim. (R. p. 529). Ballard received notice of the Bankruptcy Action, the applicable deadlines, and Thoennes's discharge. (R. p. 67). Ballard chose not to file a motion for relief from the automatic stay, a proof of claim, a motion to conduct an examination of Thoennes pursuant to Fed. R. Bankr. P. 2004, or otherwise participate in Thoennes's bankruptcy case while it was pending. *Id.* On March 26, 2012, Thoennes

was granted discharge under 11 U.S.C. § 727 and the Bankruptcy Action was closed on March 28, 2013. (R. pp. 17-21).

At the Valuation Hearing, evidence and testimony was taken relevant to a valuation of Ballard's shares pursuant to the 2010 Order. (R. pp. 260-387). No notice was given that any further determinations would be made. (R. p. 266, line 8 – p. 267, line 4; p. 301, lines 12-14) (Court: "This is a bit of a hybrid hearing. It's an evaluation [sic] on a corporation and I am going to hear from Dr. Woodside."); (*see also* R. p. 213) ("A hearing was had before the Court on August 6, 2013 to hear evidence in support of the valuation of Warpath Development, Inc. ... and the 20,000 shares held by Plaintiff...").

On October 3, 2013, the trial court issued an order finding the fair market value of Ballard's shares to be \$3,589,297 based on the evidence taken at the Valuation Hearing (the "2013 Order"). (R. pp. 22-29). The 2013 Order again made clear that the purpose of the Valuation Hearing was to value Ballard's shares pursuant to the 2010 Order. *See id.*, at 22 ("This matter is before the Court for the determination of the fair value of the plaintiff's ownership interest in Warpath Development, Inc., for purposes of the judicially forced buyout ordered by the Court in its Order of May 4, 2010...Based upon the evidence presented by both parties...at the hearing held on August 6, 2013."). The 2013 Order is explicitly clear that the 2010 Order was the reason for the Valuation Hearing and the purpose of the Valuation Hearing was to determine the value of Ballard's shares. (R. pp. 23-24) ("The 2010 Order provided that the value for Mr. Ballard's stock would be determined at a subsequent hearing. Before that hearing occurred, however, the defendants' appealed...The matter was then remanded for the valuation hearing."). At the Valuation Hearing, Thoennes was not called to testify by either party. (R. pp. 260-387). He was asked no questions related to the valuation of Warpath Development, Inc. (the "Company"), any

continued involvement in the Company, or for any other purpose. *See id.* His name was not mentioned by either party. *See id.* No document was introduced into evidence of any act taken by Thoennes with regard to the Company following his Chapter 7 discharge. *See id.*

The defendants appealed the 2013 Order. While that appeal was pending, Ballard attempted to execute the judgment against the defendants' assets, and the defendants filed a motion seeking a stay of execution pending appeal on January 9, 2014. (R. pp. 234-240). On March 27, 2014, the Court entered an order denying the motion for a stay. (R. pp. 30-35). In its March 27, 2014 order, the Court described the Valuation Hearing as follows: "[o]n remand, this Court held an evidentiary hearing to determine the fair value of the plaintiff's shares." *Id.* at 30. No other purpose for the hearing was described. *See id.*

After denial of the stay, a Rule to Show Cause was filed on March 27, 2014 and a hearing was held on April 23, 2014. Thoennes was excused from the April 23<sup>rd</sup> hearing because of his bankruptcy. (R. pp. 42, 55). Following the hearing, the trial court issued two orders: (i) an order appointing a receiver - the "Receiver Order," and (ii) a charging order requiring certain entities to transfer the defendants' distributions to the appointed receiver - the "Charging Order." (R. pp. 42-60). Included in both orders is the following statement, "While the findings of fact contained in this Order apply to all defendants, the relief granted herein is not entered against Rick Thoennes, III." (R. pp. 42, 55). The Receiver Order and Charging Order also contained the following statement:

On remand, this Court held an evidentiary hearing in August of 2013 to determine the fair value of the plaintiff's shares. At the valuation hearing, plaintiff presented undisputed evidence that the conduct of the defendants previously held to constitute shareholder oppression had continued unchanged and unabated up to the time of the hearing.

(R. p. 44, ¶ 4; p. 56).

On November 17, 2014, Ballard filed an adversary proceeding in the Bankruptcy Court (the “Adversary Proceeding”) seeking a determination of whether his judgment was excepted from Thoennes’s Chapter 7 discharge. (R. pp. 573-582). The Bankruptcy Court noted that Thoennes filed for Chapter 7 relief on December 2, 2011 and identified Ballard as a creditor holding an unliquidated claim. (R. pp. 65-66). As observed by the Bankruptcy Court, “Ballard received notice of Thoennes’ bankruptcy, the applicable deadlines, and Thoennes’ discharge.” *Id.*, at 66. Ballard chose not to “file a motion for relief from the automatic stay, a proof of claim, a motion to conduct an examination of Thoennes pursuant to Fed. R. Bankr. P. 2004, or otherwise participate in Thoennes’ bankruptcy case while it was pending.” *Id.*

Ballard raised four grounds in support of his argument that the judgment was not discharged in bankruptcy and the court rejected all of his arguments but one. (R. pp. 68-69, 89-90). According to the bankruptcy court, Thoennes was discharged from “all debts that arose before the date of the order for relief” and “[b]ecause §727(b) discharges debts that arose before the date of the order for relief, any portion of the Final Judgment that arose before that date is within the scope of the discharge.”<sup>1</sup> *Id.*, at 90. Ballard argued that some portion of the judgment was not discharged based on the statements of the trial court in the Charging and Receiver Orders. (R. pp. 89-90). The bankruptcy court found that an issue of material fact existed as to whether any portion of the final judgment consisted of “a claim that arose after the date of the order for relief,” relying solely on the trial court’s statement in the Receiver and Charging Orders that oppression continued to the date of the Valuation Hearing. *Id.* at 90. The bankruptcy court refrained from apportioning the judgment, however, finding “the state courts are likely in a better position” make that determination. *Id.*

---

<sup>1</sup> The Bankruptcy Court defined the “Final Judgment” as the judgment amount determined by the South Carolina Court of Appeals on July 15, 2014. (R. p. 68).

On September 21, 2016, Ballard filed a motion in the circuit court seeking a determination of the portion of the judgment amount against Thoennes that is attributable to alleged post-discharge oppressive conduct. (R. pp. 42, 55). On January 27, 2017, the trial court heard arguments from counsel regarding Ballard's motion (the "Apportionment Hearing"). (R. pp. 432-511). At the Apportionment Hearing, no witnesses were called to testify, and no evidence was offered of any post-discharge oppressive conduct by Thoennes. *See id.* At the hearing, counsel for Thoennes noted that Thoennes tendered his shares in the Company to the bankruptcy estate. (R. p. 490, lines 5-10). Counsel for Thoennes also invited Ballard to point to one single oppressive act taken by Thoennes following the 2011 discharge. (R. p. 491, lines 4-13). None was identified. Instead, counsel for Ballard argued that the statements contained in the Receiver and Charging Orders were "the law of the case." (R. pp. 498, lines 18-25).

On April 18, 2017, the trial court entered an order allowing the enforcement of the full amount of the judgment against Thoennes (the "Order"). (R. pp. 96-103). According to the Order, because the Receiver and Charging Orders indicate that the trial court found evidence of post-discharge oppression at the Valuation Hearing and because those orders were not appealed, they are the "law of the case." *Id.* at 99.

On April 27, 2017, Thoennes filed a motion to alter and/or amend the Order. (R. pp. 250-259). On July 14, 2017, the trial court denied Thoennes's motion without a hearing, and Thoennes filed the instant appeal on July 14, 2017. (R. pp. 104-105, 590-593).

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This matter is an action in equity. On appeal, the court may "review factual findings and legal conclusions in an equitable action de novo." *Regions Bank v. Wingard Properties, Inc.*, 394 S.C. 241, 248, 715 S.E.2d 348, 352 (2011). The appellate court "has jurisdiction to find facts in

accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence.” *Pinckney v. Warren*, 344 S.C. 382, 387, 544 S.E.2d 620, 624 (2001). “De novo review permits appellate court fact-finding, notwithstanding the presence of evidence supporting the trial court's findings.” *Lewis v. Lewis*, 392 S.C. 381, 390, 709 S.E.2d 650, 654 (2011). Furthermore, the appellate court is not bound by the trial court's legal determinations. *Swindler v. Swindler*, 355 S.C. 245, 249, 584 S.E.2d 438, 440 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing *I'On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 411, 526 S.E.2d 716, 718-19 (2000)).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND THAT THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF POST-DISCHARGE OPPRESSION ATTRIBUTABLE TO APPELLANT**

According to the Order, the Court's finding that some of Ballard's claims arose after discharge is based upon “undisputed evidence at the August 6, 2013 valuation hearing, ‘that the conduct of the defendants previously held to constitute shareholder oppression had continued unchanged and unabated up to the time of the hearing.’” (R. pp. 98-99). This language originates from two orders issued by the Court on April 23, 2014, the Charging Order and the Receiver Order. (R. pp. 44, 56). Notably, the orders mention only oppressive conduct by the “defendants” generally. *Id.* However, neither order describes any conduct individually attributable to Thoennes, and both orders explicitly state that their relief “is not entered against defendant Rick Thoennes III.” (R. pp. 42, 55).

To the extent that this finding of fact applies to Thoennes, such a finding is clearly erroneous as the record contains no post-discharge oppression attributable to Thoennes. As the Valuation Hearing transcript reveals, Thoennes was not offered by either party as a witness at the August 6, 2013 hearing, and no witness offered any testimony about his actions following the filing of his bankruptcy petition. (R. pp. 260-387). Thoennes is rarely mentioned by any witness,

and the only time his name is referenced relates to his signature on two letters seeking financing, both of which preceded the filing of his petition for bankruptcy. (R. pp. 283-286). At the Apportionment Hearing on January 27, 2017, counsel for Thoennes challenged opposing counsel to name one instance of Thoennes's post-discharge oppression, a challenge which went unanswered. (R. p. 491, lines 4 – 13; p. 492, lines 6-8).

Similarly, the trial court could not point to any act by Thoennes that constituted post-discharge oppression. During the Apportionment Hearing, the following exchange occurred:

MR. FAYSSOUX: ... Even if you – even if you had a complete merits hearing on it, Your Honor, and we started back right now, that's essentially what we have to do, is you have to have a new trial on what type of conduct my client ---

THE COURT: He owned it.

MR. FAYSSOUX: Sir?

THE COURT: He owned it. He owned the shares in the company.

MR. FAYSSOUX: Well, he ---

THE COURT: Look, I don't mean to imply anything other than just using old adage, but when you lie down with dogs, you get up with fleas. You can't just come back later and say, "No, I didn't have it."

(R. p. 492, line 22 – p. 494, line 11).

To the contrary, Thoennes's mere continued ownership of shares in the Company cannot constitute oppression sufficient to overcome the bankruptcy discharge. Namely, the statute at issue, S.C. Code Ann. § 33-14-300(2), clearly requires an action that constitutes oppression. *Kiriakides v. Atlas Food Systems & Services, Inc.*, 343 S.C. 587, 600, 541 S.E.2d 257, 265 (2001) ("Unlike the North Carolina statute...section 33-14-300 does not place the focus upon the 'rights or interests' of the complaining shareholder but, rather, specifically places the focus upon the **actions** of the majority, i.e., whether they 'have acted, are acting, or will act in a manner that is illegal,

fraudulent, oppressive, or unfairly prejudicial either to the corporation or to any shareholder.”) (emphasis in original). Even if mere ownership could be considered an “action” under Section 33-14-300, Thoennes’s ownership of shares began in 2007, long before the order of discharge issued in March 26, 2012. Accordingly, any “right to payment” relating to Thoennes’s ownership of shares arose long before the Bankruptcy Action and was thus discharged on March 26, 2012. *See infra*, at 18-19.

The only evidence in the record conclusively establishes that Thoennes did not participate in any post-discharge oppression. In his affidavit, Thoennes averred that he believed that his filing for bankruptcy “forever ended” his involvement with Warpath. (R. p. 588, ¶ 2). His “sole involvement with Warpath since 2011” consisted of his signing a settlement agreement giving Ballard his shares of Warpath stock and he “thought they were already gone.” *Id.* Since the filing of his bankruptcy petition in December 2011, Thoennes “has not been asked by any principal or owner of Warpath to participate in any way with the regards to the company” and he “sincerely believed this matter was resolved.” (R. p. 589, ¶ 3). As the bankruptcy petition reflects, Thoennes indeed attempted to surrender his shares, listing his 20% interest in the Company as a non-exempt asset. (R. pp. 522, 525, 549). Accordingly, the only specific evidence of Thoennes’s post-discharge conduct conclusively establishes that Thoennes took no actions with respect to Warpath because he believed his involvement with that entity had ended forever.

Further, the trial court’s finding that Thoennes engaged in post-discharge oppression violates due process. At a minimum, due process requires that a party be notified of the purpose of a hearing prior to the hearing. As stated by every party involved and the trial court, the purpose of the Valuation Hearing was to value Ballard’s shares, not to adjudicate post-discharge oppression. *See supra*, at 4-5. “An elementary and fundamental requirement of due process in any

proceeding which is to be accorded finality is notice reasonably calculated, under all circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections.” *Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co.*, 339 U.S. 306, 314, 70 S.Ct. 652, 657 (1950). “Proper notice...must be reasonably calculated to convey information concerning a deprivation.” *Snider Int’l Corp. v. Town of Forest Heights, Md.*, 739 F.3d 140, 146 (4th Cir. 2014) (internal quotations omitted); *City of W. Covina v. Perkins*, 525 U.S. 234, 240, 119 S. Ct. 678, 681, 142 L. Ed. 2d 636 (1999) (“A primary purpose of the notice required by the Due Process Clause is to ensure that the opportunity for a hearing is meaningful.”)

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