THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
JAN 30 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2017-001551

Andrew P. [redacted] Ballard, Respondent,

v.

Tim Roberson, Rick Thoennes, Rick Thoennes III,
And Warpath Development, Inc., Defendants,

Of whom Rick Thoennes III is Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

William M. Wilson III (S.C. Bar Id. No. 15808)
Wallace K. Lightsey (S.C. Bar Id. No. 6476)
Amos A. Workman (S.C. Bar Id. No. 6231)
WYCHE P.A.
44 East Camperdown Way
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 242-8200

Attorneys for Respondent

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

Fourth, Thoennes essentially bases his argument on the following four faulty premises: (1) Thoennes was not a witness at the hearing; (2) no witness testified to his separate and individual actions, apart from joint conduct with the other defendants,

following the bankruptcy discharge of December 2, 2011; (3) the only time his name is mentioned is in regard to signing two letters that predated his bankruptcy discharge; and (4) neither Judge Miller nor Ballard's counsel responded to a challenge to identify a post-discharge act of oppression. All four of these arguments fail as discussed below.

First, it is irrelevant whether or not Thoennes testified at the August 6, 2013, hearing, as other evidence can establish his continued oppression. He was a party to that proceeding, was represented there by counsel, and is bound by the findings and judgment entered against him and affirmed on appeal.

Second, it is inaccurate for Thoennes to contend that no witness testified to his actions following the bankruptcy discharge of December 2, 2011. As indicated above, there are several witnesses who testified to his actions between December 2, 2011, and August 8, 2013, including his own father. (Statement of the Case at 4.)

Third, it is incorrect that the only time his name was mentioned was in regard to signing two letters that predated his bankruptcy discharge. As indicated above, his father offered unrefuted testimony of Appellant Thoennes's ongoing involvement (weekly and sometimes daily) in attempting to secure financing that continued all the way to the day of the hearing. (R. p. 317, lines 5-8).

And fourth, Judge Miller and Ballard's counsel did respond to a challenge to identify a post-discharge act of oppression. As reflected in the Order Enforcing Judgment, there is citation to the record of evidence of continued oppression following the discharge. Order Enforcing Judgment at 4 n. 2. (R. p. 99). Mr. Lightsey also outlined at the hearing the evidence that was presented. Tr. of January 27, 2017 Hearing at 58-59. (R. pp. 489-490). Accordingly, Thoennes's arguments are to no avail.

Thoennes also relies upon his affidavit presented at the January 27, 2017 hearing, but this affidavit does not vitiate or overcome the fact that there was ample evidence in the record before the court that supports a finding of continued post-discharge oppression. The fact that there might be competing evidence does not undermine Judge Miller's ruling. It was Judge Miller's role to make credibility determinations and resolve any conflicts of fact that may exist between Thoennes's affidavit and any competing evidence or testimony, and he did so in favor of Ballard. Given the lengthy history of this case, and the substantial evidence of thievery and deceit on the part of Thoennes, against not only Ballard but also others, *see United States v. Thoennes*, No. 6:11-cr-02053-HFF-1, Docket Entry 14 (D.S.C. Sept. 1, 2011) (Judgment in a Criminal Case for bank fraud) (R. pp. 106-109), Judge Miller surely cannot be faulted for giving little weight to Thoennes's self-serving statements.

Finally, Thoennes's argument of a due process violation must fail. As an initial matter, this issue was not raised with the trial court and therefore cannot be first raised on appeal. *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 564, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006) ("It is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved."). Regardless, Ballard's pre-hearing memorandum served prior to the valuation hearing placed Thoennes on notice that post-discharge oppression would be an issue at the hearing. *See* Statement of Case, *supra*, at 2. Thoennes was represented by counsel at the hearing and had an opportunity to respond to the evidence at the hearing, and he had notice of the issue when raised by Ballard's motion to enforce the judgment against Thoennes with respect to post-discharge oppression. In any event, he did have notice of it at the January 27, 2017, hearing when

the court considered the issue and received evidence. Accordingly, there was no due process violation.

For the above reasons, this Court should affirm the Order Enforcing Judgment.

II. JUDGE MILLER DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT HIS PREVIOUS FACTUAL FINDING IN TWO PRIOR ORDERS THAT OPPRESSION OCCURRED AFTER THE BANKRUPTCY DISCHARGE WAS THE LAW OF THE CASE.

Thoennes argues that the prior findings by the Circuit Court are not the law of the case. As an initial matter, this issue was not raised with the trial court and therefore cannot be first raised on appeal. *Pye*, 369 S.C. at 564, 633 S.E.2d at 510. In addition, although it was raised in his motion to reconsider, an argument that could have been raised before the trial court ruled cannot be raised for the first time in a post-order motion for reconsideration of that ruling. *Patterson v. Reid*, 318 S.C. 183, 185, 456 S.E.2d 436, 437 (Ct. App. 1995). Regardless, his argument fails on the merits.

In light of the fact that this case has been pending for a decade and is now on its third appeal, it is hardly surprising that law of the case should be an issue. Now seeking his **twelfth bite at the apple**,⁵ Appellant argues that Judge Miller erred in applying the law of the case doctrine to a finding of fact set forth in the Order Appointing Receiver and the Charging Order. Because Thoennes did not appeal those orders, this finding of fact is binding as the law of the case. As the Supreme Court recently noted, if a party has a right to appeal a ruling of the trial court, “an unappealed ruling becomes the law of the case and precludes further consideration of the issue on appeal.” *Hudson v. Lancaster*

⁵ (1) 2010 Initial Order, (2) motion for reconsideration of same, (3) 2012 decision of the Supreme Court, (4) motion for reconsideration of same, (5) 2013 Final Judgment, (6) motion for reconsideration of the same, (6) 2015 decision of the Court of Appeals, (7) motion for reconsideration of the same, (8) second motion for reconsideration of the same, (9) petition for writ of certiorari from the Supreme Court, (10) 2017 Order Enforcing Judgment, (11) motion for reconsideration of the same, (12) this appeal.

Convalescent Center, 407 S.C. 112, 119, 754 S.E.2d 486, 490 (2014) (summarizing *In re Morrison*, 321 S.C. 370, 372 n.2, 468 S.E.2d 651, 652 n.2 (1996)). In addition, a finding of fact can become law of the case. See *S.C. Dep't of Labor, Licensing, & Regulation v. Chastain*, 392 S.C. 259, 264, 708 S.E.2d 818, 821 (Ct. App. 2011) (“The Board does not appeal that finding by the ALC. An unappealed ruling is the law of the case.”); see also *Estate of Gill ex rel. Grant v. Clemson Univ. Found.*, 397 S.C. 419, 429, 725 S.E.2d 516, 522 (Ct. App. 2012) (“[T]he Estate did not challenge the special referee’s finding that the IRA was a non-testamentary gift; therefore, this is law of the case.”). The law of the case doctrine therefore applies here to the finding of fact at issue where Thoennes failed to appeal either the Order Appointing Receiver or the Charging Order.

Thoennes’s position is based upon three faulty arguments, discussed in turn below.

First, he argues that these orders are not the law of the case because they did not involve a final decision on the merits. However, the orders at issue were immediately appealable under S.C. Code § 14-3-330(3) (allowing appeal of “[a] final order affecting a substantial right made in any special proceeding or upon a summary application in any action after judgment”) and/or section 14-3-330(4) (allowing appeal of “[a]n interlocutory order or decree in a court of common pleas granting, continuing, modifying, or refusing an injunction or granting, continuing, modifying, or refusing the appointment of a receiver.”). In addition, even if interlocutory, these orders could have been appealed and consolidated with the then-pending appeal of Thoennes and the other defendants. It is settled in South Carolina that “most interlocutory orders concerning ... the appointment of receivers are directly appealable by statute.” 15 S.C. JURIS. *Appeal &*

Error, § 22, at 45 (citing S.C. Code § 14-3-330(4)); *see also id.* § 16(a), at 30 (right to appeal “interlocutory orders granting, continuing, modifying, or refusing the appointment of a receiver” is an exception to the final judgment rule); *Lyles v. Williams*, 96 S.C. 290, 80 S.E. 470 (1913) (entertaining immediate appeal from the denial of a motion to appoint receiver). It is also well established that an order that is not directly appealable will nonetheless be considered if there is an appealable issue before the appellate court and a ruling on appeal will avoid unnecessary litigation. *Osborne v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 319 S.C. 479, 462 S.E.2d 291 (Ct. App. 1995). Under this doctrine, since his appeal from the final judgment was already pending before the Court of Appeals, Thoennes could have taken an appeal from the findings of the Charging Order and Order Appointing Receiver and presented them to the Court of Appeals along with the pending appeal. His failure to do so precludes him from challenging those findings now when he could have appealed them years ago. This is the whole purpose of the law of the case doctrine.

Further, the cases upon which Thoennes relies do not stand for the cited proposition and are distinguishable. Thoennes cites to *Mid-State Distributors, Inc. v. Century Importers, Inc.*, 310 S.C. 330, 336, 426 S.E.2d 777, 781 (1993), but this case did not involve the law of the case doctrine at all. Instead, it simply held that “the denial of a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(2), SCRCF, is interlocutory and not directly appealable.” *Id.* The orders at issue are not motions to dismiss, and so this case has no application.

Thoennes also cites to *Ballenger v. Bowen*, 313 S.C. 476, 477–78, 443 S.E.2d 379, 380 (1994), for the proposition that an order that “decides nothing about the merits of the case ... does not establish the law of the case.” However, this quoted passage is an

amalgamation of the court's declarations that "[a] denial of a motion for summary judgment decides nothing about the merits of the case" and that "[t]he denial of summary judgment does not establish the law of the case." *Id.* The *Ballenger* court further concluded that "an order denying a motion for summary judgment is not appealable." *Id.* at 478, 443 S.E.2d at 380. Thus, it immediately becomes clear that *Ballenger* has no application to the present orders, which were not orders denying summary judgment and which were appealable.

Thoennes also cites to *Weil v. Weil*, 299 S.C. 84, 89, 382 S.E.2d 471, 473 (Ct. App. 1989), for the proposition that an interlocutory order is not binding as the law of the case and can be corrected before a final order on the merits. This case, however, involved a denial of a motion for summary judgment and, like *Ballenger*, is inapplicable.

Thoennes also cites to *Vasiliades v. Vasiliades*, 231 S.C. 366, 375, 98 S.E.2d 810, 815 (1957), and to *Graham v. Babb*, No. 2013-UP-037, 2013 WL 8481960, at *2 (S.C. Ct. App. Feb. 6, 2013), for the proposition that an order appointing a receiver does not constitute law of the case. This conclusion is erroneous. *Vasiliades* does not even mention the law of the case doctrine, and it involved "provisional remedies pending the action." *Vasiliades* at 375, 98 S.E.2d at 815. Similarly *Graham* involved a "temporary order" of appointment prior to judgment. *Graham*, 2013 WL 8481960 at *2. Thus, these cases involved **provisional, temporary appointments of a receiver prior to judgment, not the appointment of a receiver following judgment.** Thus, these cases have no application.

Second, Thoennes also contends that the finding of fact at issue—that Thoennes's oppression continued post-discharge—was not essential to either the Order Appointing

Receiver or the Charging Order because it failed to support any conclusion of law. Thoennes relies upon both *Weil* and *White's Mill Colony Inc. v. Williams*, 363 S.C. 117, 124, 609 S.E.2d 811, 815 (Ct. App. 2005). But *Weil*, as noted above, is inapplicable to this case. And *White's Mill Colony* simply stands for the proposition that a certain isolated conclusion in an order that is inconsistent with the remainder of the order and that is not essential to the ultimate ruling cannot be construed as constituting the law of the case. Here, the finding of fact at issue was not logically inconsistent with the remainder of the order, and so *White's Mill Colony* does not apply. In addition, it was essential to the ruling in both orders because it demonstrated that Thoennes's oppression extended beyond the discharge date and therefore Thoennes was eligible to be subject to an Order Appointing Receiver and a Charging Order. The continued oppression also shows the necessity of the orders.

In addition, a finding of fact need not necessarily be essential or necessary to become law of the case, as it also can become law of the case if it is "**explicitly decided.**" *Crossmann Communities of N. Carolina, Inc. v. Harleysville Mut. Ins. Co.*, 411 S.C. 506, 524, 769 S.E.2d 453, 463 (Ct. App. 2015) ("The law of the case doctrine applies to issues explicitly decided and issues necessarily decided in the former case."). Here, the finding at issue was explicitly set forth in the order, and so it can become law of the case independently from whether it was necessary or essential.

But even if such a finding must be essential as claimed by Thoennes, it satisfies this requirement. As noted in footnote 1 of both the Order Appointing Receiver and the Charging Order, the factual findings of the orders were applied to Thoennes, but the relief would not be enforced against him until the issue of whether the 2013 Final Judgment

had been discharged in bankruptcy could be determined. (R. pp. 42, 55). This finding of fact that Thoennes's oppression continued post-discharge was directly related to the issue of whether Thoennes might have any liability at all to be enforced by the Order Appointing Receiver of the Charging Order. If his oppression had not continued after discharge, then there would be no apparent basis of liability that could be enforced against Thoennes by the two orders. In addition, the finding of fact that oppression was ongoing by all defendants (including Thoennes), especially when combined with the finding of fact that the defendants' assets (including Thoennes's assets) were "at risk of being wasted, secreted, or diverted while the defendants' appeal is pending," (R. pp. 44, 57), proves to be an essential fact supporting the need for the appointment of a Receiver.

Third, Thoennes argues that the factual finding is not law of the case because the orders were not appealable. But as noted above, the orders were immediately appealable under S.C. Code § 14-3-330(3) (allowing appeal of "[a] final order affecting a substantial right made in any special proceeding or upon a summary application in any action after judgment") and/or section 14-3-330(4) (allowing appeal of "[a]n interlocutory order or decree in a court of common pleas granting, continuing, modifying, or refusing an injunction or granting, continuing, modifying, or refusing the appointment of a receiver."). Thoennes further contends that he could not have appealed the orders because they did not affect his interests, but the orders specifically provided that the findings of fact applied to him and clearly contemplated that they would be applied to him if it were determined that the bankruptcy did not discharge his liability here, (R. pp. 42, 55), and so he was affected by the orders.

In effect, Thoennes is asking this Court to render an opinion that would reward litigants for not appealing findings made expressly against them—even though immediately appealable, and even though another appeal by that litigant was pending at the very time and could easily have been consolidated in the interest of judicial economy—in order to engage in gamesmanship and protract litigation, in this case to the extent of a decade of litigation and twelve bites at the apple. In these circumstances, law of the case precludes such gamesmanship.

III. JUDGE MILLER DID NOT ERR IN ADOPTING THE DETERMINATION OF THE BANKRUPTCY COURT, ENTERED WITH THE EXPLICIT CONSENT OF THOENNES, THAT ANY PORTION OF THE JUDGMENT ATTRIBUTABLE TO POST-DISCHARGE CONDUCT WAS NOT DISCHARGED BY THE DISCHARGE ORDER.

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